
 

222

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

Planning Agenda 
 
Thursday, 22 December 2022 at 6.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place, Hastings, TN34 3UY.   
Please enter the building via the Tourist Information Centre entrance. 
 
For further information, please contact Democratic Services on 01424 451484 or email: 
democraticservices@hastings.gov.uk 
 
  Page No. 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 

 
2.   Declarations of Interest 

 
 

 

 
3.   Minutes of previous meeting 23.11.22 

 
 

1 - 4 

 
4.   Notification of any additional urgent items 

 
 

 

 
5.   Planning applications 

 
 

 

 
 (a)   Ridge House, 27 Boscobel Road, St Leonards-on-sea 

(HS/FA/22/00788) 
5 - 18 

  (E. Meppem, Senior Planning Officer) 
  
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_120004 
 
 
 

 

 
 (b)   20 Branksome Road, St Leonards-on-sea (HS/OA/22/00514) 19 - 42 
  (E. Meppem, Senior Planning Officer) 

  
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_119726 
 
 

 

Public Document Pack

https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120004
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120004
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_120004
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119726
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119726
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119726


 
 

 

2

  
 
 

(c)   Proposed Visitor Centre Hastings Country Park,(The Bale House), 
Lower Coastguard Lane, Fairlight, Hastings (HS/FA/22/00601) 

43 - 54 

  (N. Holdsworth, Planning Officer) 
  
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-
applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_H
STBC_DCAPR_119815 
 

 

 
6.   Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions 55 - 56 
 

https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119815
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119815
https://publicaccess.hastings.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=_HSTBC_DCAPR_119815


PLANNING 
 

23 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

PC. 1 

 
 

Present: Councillors Collins (Chair), Bacon, Beaver, Edwards, Roberts, 
Williams and Patmore 
 
 

 
371. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Councillors O'Callaghan, Cllr Roark, Cllr Cannon and Councillors Beaney substituted 
by Councillors Patmore 

  
 
372. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Councillor Item Interest 

Cllr Beaver 5(a) 

  

Personal – East Sussex 
County Councillor 

Cllr Bacon 5(a) Personal – Has met the 
petitioner and applicant in 
his role as Mayor. 

Cllr Roberts 5(a) Personal – Has met 
applicant at School 
meetings  

  
 
373. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the meetings held on 28th September 2022 be 
approved as a true record 

  
 
374. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ADDITIONAL URGENT ITEMS  
 
None received 
  
 
375. PLANNING APPLICATIONS ATTRACTING A PETITION  
 
376. SACRED HEART CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL, OLD LONDON ROAD, 

HASTINGS  (HS/FA/22/00335)  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



PLANNING 
 

23 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

PC. 2 
 

  
Proposal 

New security fencing to Old London 
Road and Dudley Road boundaries 

Application No HS/FA/22/00335 

Conservation Area Yes - Tillington Terrace 

Listed Building No 

Public Consultation Yes – 5 objections received 

  

The Planning Services Manager presented. There were no updates. The Planning 
Services Manager presentation showed the site location on a map and aerial views of 
the school. A photograph of the school from Old London Road and a photograph from 
Dudley Road showing the different elevations of the current walls. The site is in 
Tillington Terrace Conservation Area and adjacent to Old Town conservation area. 
The site is also adjacent to Marianne House, which is a grade two listed building 
converted into flats. Other designations are noted in the report. The presentation 
showed the proposed railings from Old London Road and Dudley Road. The 
application proposes to erect railings on both walls. The applicant has advised that the 
railings are proposed to provide an additional safeguard for the children in the school, 
as well as the overall security of the school. The railing would be metal and would be 
painted green in Old London Road and black in Dudley road. There would be no harm 
to trees or wildlife and the conservation officer has no objections. 

The petitioner, Miss Twinkle Anasr addressed the committee. The main entrance to 
the school already has high security doors and the rear of the school is protected by 
the all weather playground with its tall fencing and gates between the school buildings 
and the open grass playing fields. In addition, no mention has been made of the 
historical importance of this site. Once the gardens of world famous Victorian botanical 
artists Marianne North. Marine House and Marion Park, an extension of the original 
building, share these historical gardens with the school. No one has advised or 
contacted us regarding this planned, invasive and destructive work. We have enjoyed 
unlimited access to the gardens for over a decade. Attempts to solve restrictions with 
Mrs Allen and the school have been met with hostility and refusal. 

Councillors asked the petitioner how do you feel the addition of these railings will 
further impact on the access of the people of Marion House and Marion Park to the 
site? The petitioner answered that there will be possible more damage done to the 
surrounding area as the school did say that it would not cause anymore, but straight 
after they said that the even more trees were cut down in the gardens and it's been 
reduced to rubble. 

Councillors asked the petitioner if they have approached the school. The petitioner 
answered the school has refused to listen to them.  

Page 2



PLANNING 
 

23 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

PC. 3 
 

Councillors asked the petitioner how they originally got access to the gardens. The 
petioner answered that an adjoining door had been left open. 

The applicant, Mrs Rose Durban the chair of Sacred Heart governing bodies since 
May this year addressed the committee in support of the application. The school has 
been built some time ago and in the last academic year, the East Sussex County 
Council schools Safe Guarding team reviewed the site at Sacred Heart School. They 
made a number of recommendations regarding improving site security in order to 
better safeguard the children. In response to these recommendations and several key 
changes have been made. The reason for todays is the low height of the war which 
borders the infant playground and which is the only barrier to the busy at 259. 
Meaning that the children are potentially vulnerable in terms of being able to exit the 
playground as well as at risk from intruders. The wall facing Dudley Rd also presents 
some significant risk outside the school day. It can be easily climbed by trespasses 
who frequently leave behind debris which needs to be dealt with. 

Councillors asked the applicant if the petitioner would be allowed access after the 
railings had been installed. The applicant answered that the school have reached out 
in the past as a school to invite the petitioner to come to our reception area so that we 
know when she may wish to visit. 

Councillors asked the applicant if the Headmistress has been asking for the railing or 
the governors. The applicant answered that the governors have been working in 
partnership the Headmistress and East Sussex County Council. 

Councillors debated. 

Councillor Beaver proposed approval of the recommendation, seconded by Councillor 
Roberts. 

RESOLVED (Unanimously)   
  
Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions: 
  
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
  
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans: 
P-001; P-002A; P-003B; P-004A; P-005C; P-006C. 
  
Reasons: 
  
1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
  
2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

Page 3



PLANNING 
 

23 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

PC. 4 
 

  
Notes to the Applicant: 
  
1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result in 

enforcement action without further warning. 
  
2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings 

Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive 
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  
3. The applicant is reminded that, under the Conservation of Habitats and 

Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 (as amended), it is an offence to: deliberately capture, disturb, injure or 
kill great crested newts; damage or destroy a breeding or resting place; 
deliberately obstructing access to a resting or sheltering place. Planning 
consent for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution 
under these acts. Should great crested newts be found at any stages of the 
development works, then all works should cease, and Natural England should 
be contacted for advice. 
  
More details on the district licensing scheme can be found at 
www.naturespaceuk.com 
  
Contact details:info@naturespaceuk.com 
  
  
  

  
 
377. PLANNING APPEALS AND DELEGATED DECISIONS  
 
The councillors discussed the application HS/FA/20/00970 which was appealed and 
allowed. 
  
Cllr Beaver raised a query regarding an appeal at Newts Way which is noted in the 
committee papers as a non-determination. 
  
The Planning Services Manager confirmed this was in error and the application was 
refused. 
  
The Committee noted the report. 
 
 
 

(The Chair declared the meeting closed at. 6.45 pm) 
 

Page 4

http://www.naturespaceuk.com/
file:///C:/Users/cdade.HASTINGSBC.005/AppData/Local/Temp/151/$!


Ridge House
27 Boscobel Road
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 0LX

Proposed conversion of building to form 5no. self-contained flats 
including the installation of a door in the South elevation and 
replacement of windows in the rear elevation with French doors.

5

2

8
7

6
11

15

56

20

28

23

18

16

17

34

14

10

54

22

Lodge

119 117

Boscobel

23a

121

17a
15a

Helena Court

Little

1 to 6

1 to 4 1 to 9

7 to 12

1 to 16

Air Shaft

49.9m

56.7m

51.0m

54.2m

Moreton

10
 to

 12
a

Mansions
Highland

Sumarki

The Abbeyfield

El Sub Sta

Bethune Court

Crabtree House

The Moreton Centre

2

2

2
5

15
TUDOR AVENUE

ESSENDEN ROAD

BOSCOBEL ROAD

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2022]. OS [100021328]

Dec 2022

HS/FA/22/00788
1:1,250

±

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

Page 5

Agenda Item 5a



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (a)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 22 December 2022

Report from: Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application address: Ridge House, 27 Boscobel Road, St
Leonards-on-sea, TN38 0LX

Proposal: Proposed conversion of building to form 5no.
self-contained flats including the installation of
a door in the South elevation and replacement
of windows in the rear elevation with French
doors.

Application No: HS/FA/22/00788

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward: MAZE HILL 2018
Conservation Area: Yes - Burtons' St. Leonards
Listed Building: No

Applicant: Hop Farm Real Estate per Kember Loudon Williams
Ltd Ridgers Barn Bunny Lane  Eridge, Kent. TN3
9HA

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: Yes - Conservation Area
Neighbour Letters: No
People objecting: 9
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 0
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 0

Application status:  Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

Page 7



1. Site and surrounding area
The site consists of a large, detached late Victorian property on the west side of Boscobel
Road. The premises is currently vacant having previously been used as accommodation for
older persons. The property is set back from the highway with an area of hard and soft
landscaping to the front.

The site is within the Burtons St Leonards Conservation Area but is not a listed building.

The surrounding area is predominantly residential with The Morton Centre care home and
the Highlands Inn Hotel and Bar in the wider area.

Constraints
Conservation Area - Burton St Leonards
GCN District Licensing Scheme IRZ - Amber
SSSI Impact Risk Zone - threshold not exceeded

2. Proposed development
This application seeks permission for the change of use of an existing, vacant, care home to
5no. self-contained flats. To facilitate the conversion the following external alterations are
also proposed:

North (rear) Elevation
Removal of conservatory
Ground floor patio area to new French door-set
New escape window
New window and brickwork below to an existing door opening
Stepped access to new rear French door-set

South Elevation
Two new Flat entrance door-sets to the ground floor. Flat 2 entrance is to an existing door
opening and Flat 1 is to an existing window opening, towards the rear of the building.

West Elevation
Two new French door-sets and stepped access to existing window openings on the ground
floor

The application is supported by the following documents:
Planning and Heritage Statement

Relevant planning history
Application No. HS/51/00751
Description Conversion of existing room into garage.
Decision Permission Without Conditions on 12/02/52

Application No. HS/57/00722
Description Conversion of dwelling house into two self-contained flats.
Decision Permission Without Conditions on 10/12/57

Application No. HS/FA/60/00142
Description Conversion to provide 3 flats.
Decision Refused on 12/04/60

Page 8



Application No. HS/60/00479
Description Change of use to Guest house and installation of fittings.
Decision Permission with conditions on 26/07/60

Application No. HS/68/00821
Description Change of use from guest house to old peoples home.
Decision Permission Without Conditions on 29/08/68

Application No. HS/68/01267
Description Erection of fire escape
Decision Permission with conditions on 16/01/69

Application No. HS/FA/83/00038
Description Erection of a single storey extension at the rear to form 3 bedrooms, bathroom, and

w.c.
Decision Permission with conditions on 06/04/83

Application No. HS/FA/83/00548
Description Extension of comprise three bedrooms, bathroom and wc
Decision Permission with conditions on 28/09/83

Application No. HS/FA/93/00182
Description Formation of vehicular hardstanding
Decision Permission with conditions on 24/05/93

Application No. HS/FA/22/00319
Description Proposed alterations and conversion of building to form 6no. self-contained flats,

proposed works include some changes to window and door fenestration.
Decision Refused on 11/07/22

National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy FA2 - Strategic Policy for Central Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy EN1 - Built and Historic Environment: CA2 BURTONS' ST. LEONARDS
Policy H2 - Housing Mix

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM5 - Ground Conditions
Policy HN1 - Development Affecting the Significance and Setting of Designated Heritage
Assets (including Conservation Areas)
Policy HN2 - Changing Doors, Windows and Roofs in Conservation Areas
Policy HN3 - Demolition involving Heritage Assets
Policy HC2 - Residential Institutions and Student Halls of Residence

Revised Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18)
Policy SP2 - New and Affordable Housing
Policy SP5 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Policy SP6 - Enhancing the Historic Environment
Policy DP1 - Design - Key Principles

Page 9



Policy DP2 - Design - Space and Accessibility Standards
Policy DP3 - Sustainable Design
Policy DP7 - Access, Servicing and Parking

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 8 sets out the three overarching objectives of the planning system in order to
achieve sustainable development. Those are: economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and
innovation); social (to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities'
health, social and cultural well-being;); and environmental (to protect and enhance our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy)

Paragraph 9 advises that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account,
so they respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in
different areas.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan

without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the development plan is the starting point for
decision-making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.

Paragraph 47 of the NPPF sets out that planning applications be determined in accordance
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF states, amongst other things, that decisions should promote and
support the development of underutilised land and buildings, especially if this would help
meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could
be used more effectively.

Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that Local planning authorities should take a positive
approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not
allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to:
a) use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided this

would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of town
centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this Framework; and

b) make more effective use of sites that provide community services such as schools and
Page 10



hospitals, provided this maintains or improves the quality of service provision and access
to open space.

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support development that
makes efficient use of land.

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

in order to create an attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit.
Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime
and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience.

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure new streets are tree lined,
that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments.

Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that development that is not well designed should be
refused but that significant weight should be given to development that reflects local design
policies and government guidance on design and development of outstanding or innovative
design which promotes high levels of sustainability and raises the standard of design in the
area, provided they fit with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is
not materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the
permitted scheme.

Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure a site is suitable for its
proposed use having regard to ground conditions and risks arising from land instability and
contamination.

Paragraph 184 of the NPPF sets out that where sites are affected by land stability or
contamination, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or
landowner.

Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from
the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development - and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; b) identify and protect tranquil

Page 11



areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their
recreational and amenity value for this reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from
artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.

3. Consultation comments
Conservation - No objection - no harm
Highways - No objection, subject to conditions (Nos. 3, 4)

4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed at the front of the site and an advert
placed in the local paper. In response to this, 10 letters of objection from 9 different
properties were received. The concerns within these letters include:

Unsightly wrought iron fire escape - existing structure approved in 1968
Loss of privacy
Lack of parking
Impact on on-street parking
Impact on free-flow of traffic
Overdevelopment of the property
Loss of garden
Should be converted into a house rather than flats
Lack of information on existing windows 
Location of bins
Small accommodation
Change of windows
Overlooking

5. Determining issues
a) Principle
The site is in a sustainable location and the application is therefore in accordance with Policy
LP1 of the Hastings Local Plan - Development Management Plan 2015 in this respect and
acceptable in principle subject to other Local Plan policies.

b) 5 Year Housing Land Supply
As the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply at this time, the tilted balance of
NPPF paragraph 11d) is engaged. The recommendation is for approval and the need to
deliver housing adds further weight in favour of granting planning permission. 

c) Impact on character and appearance of the Conservation Area
Policy HN1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that applications that
have the potential to impact upon the significance of designated heritage assets (including
conservation areas) must be fully assessed, to ensure that the proposed development
sustains and enhances the significance of the heritage asset. This policy goes on to state
that permission will be given for those schemes that show a full understanding of the
significance of the asset and convincingly demonstrate how their chosen design sustains and
enhances the significance of any heritage assets affected (including conservation areas).

This is supported by Policy DM1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan which
requires that all proposals must reach a good standard of design, which include efficient use
of resources, and takes into account, amongst other things, protecting and enhancing local
character and shows an appreciation of the surrounding neighbourhood's historic context,

Page 12



street patterns, plot layouts and boundaries, block sizes and scale, height, massing and
materials.

Use:
The use of the premises as residential flats would complement the existing residential
properties along Boscobel Road and would not be out of character with the area. It is also
considered that the occupation of the premises as residential flats would not be dissimilar to
the use as a residential care home, by virtue of the coming and going of staff, visitors and
residents.

External alterations:
As part of the development, it is proposed to demolish the existing conservatory at the rear of
the site and carry out alterations to windows and doors, in the rear and side elevations.
These alterations are relatively minimal and while the use of timber windows rather than the
Upvc and aluminium would be preferred, due to the site being within a Conservation Area,
these windows are not visible from the public domain. These materials are also already
present at the site. In light of these factors, the external works and materials proposed are
considered acceptable on balance.

Overall impact:
Taking the above into account, it is considered that the works are acceptable and meet the
aims of the policies quoted above along with paragraph 192 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

d) Future residential amenities
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced Technical
Guidance for Space Standards (TGSS) in order to achieve a good living standard for future
users of proposed development. This document advises that, for a single storey, 1 bedroom
unit, there should be a minimum of 37-50m² and for a single storey, 2 bedroom unit should
be a minimum of 61-70m².

The proposed units are as follows;

Unit 1 - 1 Bedroom - 43.5m²
Unit 2 - 1 Bedroom - 37m²
Unit 3 - 2 Bedroom - 71.m²
Unit 4 - 2 Bedroom - 74m²
Unit 5 - 2 Bedroom - 61.7m²

All units meet the minimum requirements respectively. All bedrooms within the units also
meet the minimum size requirements for singles and doubles respectively.  Lastly, it should
also be noted that following the previous refusal the total number of flats within the unit has
been reduced from 6 to 5. This aids in providing a better mix of flat sizes within the unit and
is considered to address a previous reason for refusal.

e) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that in order to achieve a
good living standard for future users of proposed development and its neighbours it should
be demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate solutions have been
incorporated into schemes

No extensions are proposed to the premises and as such there would not be an impact on
the neighbouring properties in terms of loss of light or overshadowing.

Page 13



As stated above, concerns have been raised by local residents in terms of loss of privacy as
a result of the change of use and alterations to windows and doors. While these concerns
are acknowledged, the alterations to the existing openings are relatively minor, being the
replacement of a window with a door in the southern elevation, the replacement of door with
a window and the slight increase in size of two windows in the northern elevation and the
installation of new patio doors to the rear. These alterations, being at ground floor, are not
considered to result in unacceptable change to the existing relationship between the existing
properties and its neighbours. Similarly, the occupation of the premises as flats is considered
compatible with the established residential area. The proposal therefore complies with the
aims of Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan.

g) Highway safety/parking
Trip Generation:
The applicant has not submitted trip generation analysis for this development. However, the
proposed development is unlikely to result in a significant impact on the local highway
network. Therefore, it is not considered this development will result in a significant impact on
the local highway network.

Access:
The site has an existing vehicle access from Boscobel Road and this is to remain the same
for the proposed development. This is considered acceptable by the County Highways
Authority.

Car Parking:
There are two existing car parking spaces and these are to remain the same for the
proposed development. A development of this size is expected to have a parking demand of
approximately 4 parking spaces. The proposed parking arrangement is considered to provide
one parking space (secured by condition No.5) due to the tandem parking arrangement, and
it is considered that three vehicles would need to be accommodated in the local highway
network.

Parking on Boscobel Road is somewhat restricted due to existing parking demand.
Excessive over spill parking could lead to inappropriate parking blocking the highway,
increasing the hazards to highway users. However, in this instance the County Highways
Authority have raised no objection due to the accessible location and the parking demand for
this site potentially being lower due to the size of the proposed units. Highways have advised
that the parking demand is unlikely to result in a significant impact on the local highway
network and as such, refusal on these grounds is not justified.  

Cycle Storage:
Cycle parking should be in accordance with the East Sussex County Council's adopted
parking standards with 1 cycle space per 1-2 bed flat. Covered, secure and convenient cycle
storage should be provided for 5 cycles. The applicant is proposing a cycle store at the rear
of the site. This is considered acceptable and the provision of this store is to be secured by
condition No. 3.

Accessibility:
The site is within walking distance of a wide variety of services and amenities. The site is
located 60m away from the nearest bus stop which provides regular bus services to Hastings
town centre and St Helens. West St Leonards Railway Station is approximately 800m away
and St Leonards Warrior Square is 1.1km away, both within walking or cycling distance.
These provide regular train services to London, Hastings, Ore, Ashford and Brighton. The
site is therefore located in a relatively accessible location.

Page 14



h) Waste and Refuse
Policy DM3 of Hastings Development Management Plan requires adequate space for
storage of waste and its removal. The site layout shows a bin and recycling store located on
the driveway at the front of the site. While this store is in an accessible location for collection,
it causes obstruction to the parking area, reducing the available space as discussed in more
detail above. Condition 4 is therefore attached which requires details of the bin store in an
alternative location, to be submitted and approved and that the development be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

i) Ecology
Impact on Great Crested Newts:
The development falls within the amber impact risk zone for great crested newts however,
due to the scale of the proposal and minimal external works, it is not expected that newts
would be a constraint for this development.  Condition 8 requires development to cease if
Great Crested Newts be found on site during the development process.

6. Conclusion
The site is located within a sustainable location with easy and frequent access to services
and as such the principle of residential development is acceptable. As the Council cannot
demonstrate a 5-year housing supply at this time, the tilted balance of NPPF paragraph 11d)
is engaged. The recommendation is for approval and the need to deliver housing adds
further weight in favour of granting planning permission. 

The proposed development would provide an acceptable living environment for the future
occupants of the dwellings without adversely impacting on the amenities of neighbouring
residents and without causing harm to the Burtons St Leonards Conservation Area.

Given the above it is considered that the proposed development is in accordance with the
relevant policies of the NPFF and Local Plan as detailed herein. These proposals are
considered to comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise".

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:

7257/1/A, 7257/2, 7257/3/A, 7257/LBP, 7257/EX/1, 7257/EX/2.

Page 15



3. (i) Prior to occupation of the development, details of cycle storage must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.

(ii) No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure
cycle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved
details. The areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be
used other than for the parking of cycles.

4. (i) The development shall not be occupied until details of refuse storage
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Details shall also include refuse bin collection points, where
relevant.

(ii) No part of the development shall be occupied until the all the approved
details have been implemented. The refuse store and bin collection point
shall thereafter be retained in perpetuity. 

5. The existing parking area is to be retained for use by residents of the new
units and shall not be used other than for the parking of motor vehicles.

6. Prior to occupation, the north elevation window to the bathroom of flat 1 shall
be obscure glazed with obscure glass to a minimum level of obscurity
equivalent to Pilkington Texture Glass Level 3, or similar equivalent and be
permanently fixed shut and non-opening below 1.7 metres from finished
floor level. Once installed, the windows shall be permanently maintained in
that condition.

7. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:-

08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays.

8. Should Great Crested Newts be found at any stages of the development
works, then all works should cease, and Natural England should be
contacted for advice.

Reasons:

1. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 91 of
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. In order that the development site is accessible by non-car modes and to
meet the objectives of sustainable development.

4. To ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

5. To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the
access and proceeding along the highway.

Page 16



6. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents.

7. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

8. To protect features of recognised nature conservation importance.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3. Consideration should be given to the provision of a domestic sprinkler
system.

4. The proposal may be a material change of use to which the Building
Regulations 1991 apply and a building regulation submission may be
necessary before the change of use takes place.

5. The developer is advised to inspect the external escape stair for structural
integrity prior to occupation of the units. Should this feature be found unsafe,
a further planning application will be required for its replacement.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs E Meppem, Telephone 01424 783288

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/22/00788 including all letters and documents

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



20 Branksome Road
St Leonards-on-sea
TN38 0UA

Outline Planning Permission with all matters reserved for the demolition 
of the existing dwelling and proposed construction of 5 No. dwellings 
with associated parking and landscaping.

1

3

5

9

11

18

9a

13

15

22

16

49
20

17

26

14

13a

20a

14a
16a

22a

46.1m

Craiglea

The Garden House

22

9

15

5

16 RE
GE

NC
Y G

AR
DE

NS

HOLLINGTON PARK CLOSE

BRANKSOME ROAD

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2022]. OS [100021328]

Dec 2022

HS/OA/22/00514
1:1,250

±

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

Page 19

Agenda Item 5b



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (b)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 22 December 2022

Report from: Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application address: 20 Branksome Road, St Leonards-on-sea, TN38
0UA

Proposal: Outline Planning Permission with all matters
reserved for the demolition of the existing
dwelling and proposed construction of 5 No.
dwellings with associated parking and
landscaping.

Application No: HS/OA/22/00514

Recommendation: Grant Outline Planning Permission

Ward: MAZE HILL 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: No

Applicant: Mr and Mrs Brown per Elevations Design Ltd
Junction House 1 Sedlescombe Road South  St
Leonards on Sea, East Sussex. TN38 0TA

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: No
Neighbour Letters: No
People objecting: 7
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 0
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 2

Application status:  Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

Page 21



1. Site and surrounding area
The site consists of an L shaped parcel of land that includes the existing curtilage of No.20
Branksome Road and dog-legs to the rear of Nos 20a and 22 Branksome Road. The site is
longer than it is wide with ground level falling away in the rear garden to the north and west.
The ground levels also rise to a retained bank along the eastern site boundary.

Presently on site is a single 4 bedroom house located towards the entrance of the site and
within the rear curtilage is a derelict pool that is in-filled and overgrown. There are a number
of mature trees on the boundaries of the site, which provide a natural screening. These trees
and areas of lawn with mature dispersed tree coverage add to the characteristics of the site
contributing to the green and leafy character of the area.

This area surrounding the site is characterised predominantly of larger single-family dwelling
houses with established well-maintained gardens. This includes mature plants, tree and
shrub coverage along boundaries and gives a sense of seclusion to the individual properties.

Constraints
Flooding Surface Water 1 in 1000
Flooding Surface Water 1 in 100
Tree Preservation Order - TPO 253 - T2
SSSI Impact Risk Zone - threshold not exceeded
GCN District Licensing Scheme Pond Buffer Zone 250m
GCN District Licensing Scheme IRZ - GREEN
Allocated site to the rear - Policy FB4, Former Westerleigh School. Does not encroach.

2. Proposed development
This application seeks outline permission, with all matters reserved, for the erection of 5
dwelling houses with associated parking and landscaping. The existing 4 bed house on site
is proposed to be demolished to enable this development.

Matters in relation to appearance, means of access, landscaping, layout and scale have
been reserved for a future application and as such only the principle of the development is
being determined by this application. However, some indicative plans have been submitted.
The indicative plans show the dwellings as two storey, detached units, with a mix of 3 and 4
bedrooms. Each unit is shown to have two parking spaces to the front along with two
additional 'visitors' spaces within the wider site. To the rear of each dwelling is an area for the
storage of bins.

The indicative plans show the following suggested floor areas for the units;
Plot 1 - 77m²
Plot 2 - 65m²
Plot 3 - 65m²
Plot 4 - 66m²
Plot 5 - 52.5m²

The application is supported by the following documents:

Arboricultural Survey
Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement (StA 2024 AIA AMS 20
Branksome Road Rev2)
Design and Access Statement
Ecology Report
Site Waste Management Plan Page 22



SUDs report

Relevant planning history
Application No. HS/FA/49/00835
Description 49/835 - Erection of dwellinghouse and formation of vehicular access. - GTD

13/12/1949
49/835a - Erection of dwelling-house detailed plans. - GTDX 10/01/1950
49/835b - Erection of dwellinghouse - amended plan. - GTDX 11/04/1950

Decision Permission with conditions on 13/12/49

Application No. HS/55/00527
Description Addition of conservatory and porch.
Decision Permission with conditions on 13/09/55

Application No. HS/OA/64/00695
Description Erection of dwelling.
Decision Refused on 17/07/64

Application No. HS/FA/85/00245
Description Erection of two storey rear extension
Decision Permission with conditions on 09/07/85

Application No. HS/OA/20/00146
Description Outline permission with all matters reserved for the demolition of existing dwellinghouse

and proposed construction of 5 dwelling houses with associated parking and
landscaping.

Decision Outline Application Refused on 02/11/20

Application No. HS/OA/20/00146
Description Outline permission with all matters reserved for the demolition of existing dwellinghouse

and proposed construction of 5 dwelling houses with associated parking and
landscaping.

Decision Appeal Dismissed on 06/09/21

National and local policies
Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014
Policy DS1 - New Housing Development
Policy FA1 - Strategic Policy for Western Area
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way
Policy H1 - Housing Density
Policy H2 - Housing Mix
Policy T3 - Sustainable Transport
Policy EN3 - Nature Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015
Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM1 - Design Principles
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM4 - General Access
Policy DM5 - Ground Conditions
Policy HN8 - Biodiversity and Green Space

Page 23



Revised Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18)
Policy OSP1 - Tackling Climate Change
Policy SP2 - New and Affordable Housing
Policy SP5 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment
Policy SP6 - Enhancing the Historic Environment
Policy DP1 - Design - Key Principles
Policy DP2 - Design - Space and Accessibility Standards
Policy DP3 - Sustainable Design
Policy DP4 - Flood Risk and Water Quality
Policy DP5 - Biodiversity
Policy DP6 - Green Infrastructure
Policy DP7 - Access, Servicing and Parking

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 8 sets out the three overarching objectives of the planning system in order to
achieve sustainable development. Those are: economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and
innovation); social (to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities'
health, social and cultural well-being;); and environmental (to protect and enhance our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving
biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy)

Paragraph 9 advises that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account,
so they respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in
different areas.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan

without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most

important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:
i) the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the development plan is the starting point for
decision-making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.

Paragraph 47 of the NPPF sets out that planning applications be determined in accordance
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 120 of the NPPF states, amongst other things, that decisions should promote and
support the development of under utilised land and buildings, especially if this would help
meet identified needs for housing where land supply is constrained and available sites could
be used more effectively.

Page 24



Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that Local planning authorities should take a positive
approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not
allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to:
a) use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided this

would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of town
centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this Framework; and

b) make more effective use of sites that provide community services such as schools and
hospitals, provided this maintains or improves the quality of service provision and access
to open space.

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support development that
makes efficient use of land.

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

in order to create an attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit.
Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime
and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience.

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure new streets are tree lined,
that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments.

Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that development that is not well designed should be
refused but that significant weight should be given to development that reflects local design
policies and government guidance on design and development of outstanding or innovative
design which promotes high levels of sustainability and raises the standard of design in the
area, provided they fit with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is
not materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the
permitted scheme.

Paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure a site is suitable for its
proposed use having regard to ground conditions and risks arising from land instability and
contamination.

Paragraph 184 of the NPPF sets out that where sites are affected by land stability or
contamination, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or

Page 25



landowner.

Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from
the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development - and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; b) identify and protect tranquil
areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their
recreational and amenity value for this reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from
artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.

National Design Guide 2019
The National Design Guide illustrates how well-designed places that are beautiful, enduring
and successful can be achieved in practice.
Paragraph 20 advises that good design involves careful attention to other important
components of places, and these components include the context for places and buildings.

Paragraph 21 advises that a well-designed building comes through making the right choices
at all levels including the form and scale of the building. It comes about through making the
right choices at all levels, including: the layout (or masterplan), the form and scale of
buildings, their appearance, landscape, materials, and their detailing.

Paragraph 39 advises that well-designed places are integrated into their surroundings so
they relate well to them.

Paragraph 40: C1 - Understand and relate well to the site, its local and wider context -
well-designed new development responds positively to the features of the site itself and the
surrounding context beyond the site boundary. It enhances positive qualities and improves
negative ones.

Other policies/guidance

East Sussex County Council - Minor Planning Application Guidance (2017)

The Department for Communities and Local Government Technical Guidance for Space
Standards (TGSS)

Air Quality and Emission Mitigation Guidance for Sussex (2021)

3. Consultation comments
Refuse and Waste - No objection
Highways - No comment due to scale of development
ESCC Flood Risk Manager (SUDs) - No comment due to scale of development
Southern Water - No objection, subject to informative re connection
Environment and Natural Resources Manager - No objection
Borough Arboriculturalist - No objection

Page 26



4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed at the front of the site. In response to
this 7 letters of objection from different properties and 2 letters of general comment from a
single property were received.

Objection points
Not the right place for a housing estate
Overly dominant development
Over development
Out of character
Drainage and water run off
Impact on natural spring
Loss of green space
Impact on neighbouring properties
lack of character
Small gardens
Small floor area
Loss of trees
Impact on wildlife
Impact on enjoyment of gardens
Noise
Pollution from further cars
Impact on highway from more cars
Roads too narrow
Not enough change since refusal
Shading from T1
Subsidence
Land stability
Lack of design details
Out of date supporting information

General comments
Trees are overgrown with Ivy
Trees have dead branches that overhang neighbouring properties
Neighbouring garage not shown on plan

5. Determining issues
a) Principle
As detailed above this is an application for outline planning permission with all matters being
reserved. The main consideration is, therefore, the principle of the development in this
location.

The information submitted as part of the application identifies that it is proposed to erect 5
detached dwellings with access from Branksome Road. Matters in relation to appearance,
means of access, landscaping, layout and scale have been reserved for a future application
and as such only the principle of the development is being determined by this application.
However, some indicative plans have been submitted. The indicative plans show the
dwellings as detached units, with a mix of 3 and 4 bedrooms. Each unit is shown to have two
parking spaces to the front along with two additional 'visitors' spaces within the wider site.
Each dwelling is also shown to have bin storage and a shed. This application is a
resubmission following on from an earlier refusal and appeal dismissal. This application
seeks to address all previous reasons for refusal. 

Page 27



The previous application, dismissed at appeal, was refused on the grounds that the position
of plot 1 was too close to no. 20a and as such the spacing between buildings did not have
sufficient regard to the pattern of development of the area, where comprises greater
separation distances than previously proposed. The application now varies the position of
plot 1 relative to no. 20a Branksome Road and this is discussed later in this report.

Policy LP1 of the Hastings Development Management Plan (2015), paragraph 4.3 of the
Hastings Local Plan - Planning Strategy (2014) and paragraph 11 of the NPPF set out a
presumption in favour of sustainable development. The site is within a sustainable location
with reasonable/good access to public transport, shops, services and facilities, and while it is
acknowledged that final details of the appearance, means of access, landscaping, layout and
scale can be dealt with at reserved matters stage, in this instance, given the constraints of
the site, there are concerns in relation to the development. These are covered in more detail
below.

b) 5 Year Housing Land Supply
As the Council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing supply at this time, the tilted balance of
NPPF paragraph 11d) is engaged. The recommendation is for approval and the need to
deliver housing adds further weight in favour of granting planning permission. 

c) Layout
The applicant has indicated that all matters are reserved to be considered as part of a future
application. The plans submitted are therefore indicative, however, they do show detailing in
relation to access, site layout and scale. The proposed layout and scale have been assessed
as follows:

The application site is L shaped leading from Branksome Road and extending to the rear of
No.20a and 22 Branksome Road. To facilitate the development, it is proposed to demolish
the existing derelict bungalow at No.20. This provides space to create the access to the rear
along with space for Unit 1.

The site is approximately 2369m² with the proposed dwellings occupying 325.5m² of the total
site. The site is irregular in shape, leading from Branksome Road turning to the left behind
No.22 and 20a Branksome Road. To create access to the rear of the site the existing, road
fronting, dwelling is to be demolished.

The site is bordered to the south by the properties in Branksome Road, to the north is the
former Westerleigh School site. To the east and west are further gardens associated with
Branksome Road properties.  The properties within the rear portion of the site are on an
east-west orientation whereas the road fronting property is north-south. Large areas of
hardstanding are proposed,

The indicative plan shows 4 dwellings (Plots 2-4) in the rear portion of the site and a 5th (Plot
1) positioned at the front of the site, in place of the existing unit, No.20. The layout plan
submitted demonstrates that all dwellings would benefit from good sized gardens and ample
parking. It is noted that the layout of the site is similar to the previously refused scheme, also
for 5 units. While they layout has not be dramatically altered, during the appeal for the earlier
application, the Inspector raised no concerns in relation to the arrangement of the dwellings
to the rear of the site. Concerns were raised in relation to the position of the unit at the front
of the site and the proximity to No.20a. Following on from the Appeal decision, the indicative
layout plan has been amended with the aim of addressing the Inspector's concerns and now
shows the 5th unit (Plot 1) being erected on the site of the existing dwelling at No.20. This is
considered to have addressed the Inspectors concerns about the loss of separation between
20 and 20a as the dwelling on Plot 1 would be no closer to No.20a than the existing dwelling,

Page 28



to be demolished.

In light of this, it is considered a residential development could be brought forward at
reserved matters stage which would meet the aims of Policy DM1 of the Development
Management Plan 2015.

d) Impact on character and appearance of area
Scale and appearance of the development:
Policy DM1 of the Hastings DM Plan requires that all proposals must reach a good standard
of design, which include efficient use of resources, and takes into account, amongst other
things, protecting and enhancing local character and shows an appreciation of the
surrounding neighbourhood's historic context, street patterns, plot layouts and boundaries,
block sizes and scale, height, massing and materials.

Design:
While the appearance of the proposed unit has been reserved for consideration at a later
date, the Design and Access Statement provided suggested that the dwellings could be
constructed in brick work and tile hung, with tiles to pitched roofs and white windows. These
materials are not uncommon in the surrounding area and as such are considered acceptable
in principle.

Impact on the Streetscene:
Due to the position of the site, the 4 smaller dwellings proposed would be screened from the
public domain by existing built form. As a result of this, there would not be an impact on the
existing streetscene as a result of these properties. However, the dwelling proposed at the
front of the site would be clearly visible. The single dwelling at the front of the site is shown to
be comparable in scale to the existing dwelling on site and as such would not appear
disproportionately sized when viewed within the street scene. It is noted that the indicative
plan shows the proposed dwelling to be set further back from the highway than 20a and 22,
however, this is again not dissimilar to the position of the existing dwelling to be demolished
and has been proposed to limit the impact on the large Oak at the front of the site.

Overall impact on the character of the area.
Based on the indicative drawings submitted it is considered that five dwellings could be
comfortably accommodated on the site without causing harm to the street scene or the wider
character of the area. The proposal therefore complies with policies DM1 of the Hastings
Development Management Plan and Policy SC1 of the Hastings Planning Strategy.

e) Future residential amenities
Internal Floor space:
The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) has produced Technical
Guidance for Space Standards (TGSS) in order to achieve a good living standard for future
users of proposed development. This document requires the following floor areas;

2 storey, three bedroom unit - 84-102m²
2 storey, four bedroom unit - 97-127m²

The TGSS also stipulates the minimum size for individual bedrooms, being 11.5m² for a
double and 7.5m² for a single.

Any future application would need to ensure that the proposed dwellings comply with these
requirements to ensure a satisfactory level of internal living accommodation for future
residents.

Page 29



External Amenity Space:
Point (g) of Policy DM3 of the Hastings DM Plan states that appropriate levels of private
external space are included, especially for larger homes designed for family use (dwellings
with two or more bedrooms). In respect of proposed family dwellings the Council would
expect to see the provision of private garden space (normally at the rear), of at least 10
metres in length. The indicative plans indicate that this can be achieved for all five units.

f) Impact on neighbouring residential amenities
Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan states that in order to achieve a
good living standard for future users of proposed development and its neighbours it should
be demonstrated that amenity has been considered and appropriate solutions have been
incorporated into schemes. This includes the use of the scale, form, height, mass, and
density of any building or buildings, to reduce or avoid any adverse impact on the amenity
(privacy, over shadowing, loss of daylight) of neighbouring properties.

As identified above, the site is boarded by residential dwellings and gardens on three sides.
While the scheme is outline with all matters reserved, an indicative plan showing a
suggested layout has been submitted. This plan identifies that Nos 22 and 20a Branksome
Road are the two closest properties to the proposed dwellings. These existing properties
range in distance from the 4 properties in the rear portion of the site from 16.5 - 21.8 metres.
Due to the level of separation and the difference in land levels, it is considered that there
would not be a detrimental impact in terms of loss of privacy or an unacceptable level of
overlooking. Similarly, due to the level of separation, there would not be a detrimental impact
in terms of loss of light or overshadowing. It must be acknowledged that the outlook from the
upper floor, rear windows of No.20a and 22 would change as a result of the development,
however, this is not considered to sufficiently detrimental to warrant refusal on this ground
alone.

With regards to Plot 1, at the front of the site, the levels of separation between the new
dwelling and No.20a Branksome Road will not alter as a result of the development. This is
due to the new dwelling being erected on the footprint of the existing unit on site. This unit is
approximately 6.2 metres from the side elevation of 20a and 4.2 metres from the proposed
dwelling to the mutual boundary. Due to this level of separation it is not considered there
would be a detrimental impact on the amenities of the neighbouring residents in terms of loss
of light, over shadowing or loss of outlook. Careful consideration must be given to the
arrangement of windows in the side elevation of the new dwelling that faces towards No.20a,
however, this is a matter for the reserved matters application as no indicative elevations have
been provided at this stage.

Overall impact on residential amenities:
Taking the above in to account, while it is acknowledged that the plans submitted are
indicative and the final design of the dwellings, including the number and size of windows etc
will be formally assessed as part of the reserved matters, it is considered that this site can be
developed for residential purposes without detriment to the amenities of the neighbouring
properties. As such the proposal complies with Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development
Management Plan 2015.

g) Ecology
In respect of this application a preliminary Ecological appraisal, prepared by The Mayhew
Consultancy, has been submitted. This report identifies the following;

Amphibians: The proposal is unlikely to disturb great crested newts.
Badgers: The proposal is unlikely to disturb badgers, although site mitigation measures with
regards to foraging mammals are suggested.

Page 30



Bats: The proposal has a potential to disturb bats. Inspections prior to tree removal and
demolition are recommended, along with suggestions regarding external lighting.
Birds: The proposal has a potential to disturb nesting birds and the timing of any operations
should account for that possibility.
Dormice: The proposal is unlikely to harm Dormice or Dormouse habitat.
Reptiles: There is a potential for reptiles to be present. Mitigation measures are suggested.

The report concludes that no additional surveys are recommended at present, however,
inspections for bat assessments are advised. It must be acknowledged that the Ecology
Appraisal submitted with this application is dated 2019. While generally an updated report
would be required as part of the initial submission, in this instance, due to no concerns being
raised within the report and the overall condition of the site having been maintained as short
mown amenity grassland, it is considered that an updated Ecology Assessment a
Biodiversity Net Gain Statement can be secured by way of condition (No.15).This approach
also prevents potential delays in respect of seasonal inspections of the site.

Net Gain:
The NPPF and the NPPG encourages net gains for biodiversity to be sought through
planning policies and decisions. However, it should be noted that biodiversity net gain will not
become a requirement in planning law until the planning legislation is amended, which is
expected in 2023.

Biodiversity net gain delivers measurable improvements for biodiversity by creating or
enhancing habitats in association with development. Biodiversity net gain can be achieved
on-site, off-site or through a combination of on-site and off-site measures. On site net gain
can be provided by creating new habitats, enhancing existing habitats, providing green roofs,
green walls, street trees or sustainable drainage systems. Relatively small features can often
achieve important benefits for wildlife, such as incorporating 'swift bricks' and bat boxes in
developments and providing safe routes for hedgehogs between different areas of habitat.

The Ecology report submitted identifies that the development can provide an opportunity to
enhance or increase biodiversity by way of the following ;
- The provision of bird and bat boxes.
- The introduction of a variety of vegetation habitats wherever possible, including unkempt
'wild' areas.
- The introduction of new areas of standing water, or the improvement of habitat around and
within any existing ponds.

These enhancements are considered acceptable and as such, a condition (No.15) is to be
imposed to secure the final design and provision in line with the requirements of the NPPG.

Impact on Great Crested Newts:
The development falls within the green impact risk zone for great crested newts and is within
a 250m buffer zone from a pond.  The Ecology report submitted advises that the site is
separated from the nearest area of open water within the old Hollington Park School site by a
matrix of un-maintained ground, woodland and urban development. As a result of these
factors, it is unlikely that great crested newts would have traversed this area in order to
access the site. In addition, only the peripheral unmown areas within the site could be
considered as favourable great crested newt habitat. In light of this, an informative (No.4) is
to be placed on the decision advising of the necessary protocol should Great Crested Newts
be found on site during development.

Page 31



Overall impact on Ecology:
In light of the above, and no objections being received from the Borough Environment and
Natural Resources Manager, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable,
subject to conditions, and complies with policy HN8 of the Hastings Development
Management Plan and EN3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy.

h) Trees
In support of this application an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method Statement
produced by St Aubyn Tree Consultancy has been submitted. This report identifies that,
when the site was surveyed on the 5th April 2022 and the 31st May 2022 there were 36
Individual trees, 9 groups and 3 hedges. These vary from grade A to U.

The indicative site layout and accompanying Arboricultural report identify that, to facilitate the
development, nineteen trees, six groups of trees and one part group will be lost. While the
loss of these trees and groups is unfortunate,  8 of the trees to be removed are category ‘U’
trees which would require removal within ten years for Arboricultural reasons, irrespective of
the proposed development. Of the 11 other individual trees, 9 are graded as category ‘C’
specimens of low quality and value, and there are two moderate quality, category ‘B’ trees.
The two category ‘B’ trees (Oak T9 and Robinia T13) are proposed to be removed because
they are within the footprint of the access road. The removal of Oak T9 and Robinia T13
were also required to be removed within the previous dismissed Appeal scheme. As part of
the appeal decision the Inspector found that removal of Oak T9 could be acceptable subject
to suitable mitigation planting. Similarly, Robinia T13 is growing close to T9, it has a high
crown and is screened in views from the Branksome Road by the houses and by the crown
of Oak T9. No issue with its removal was raised by the Inspector as part of the previous
appeal decision.

The key Arboricultural feature of the site is Oak T1, which is to be retained. The proposals
have been carefully designed to minimise impacts on this high-quality category ‘A’ tree with
the use of above ground cellular confinement systems to install hard surfacing. This involves
laying a geocell mat onto a non-woven geotextile laid on the surface of the ground (no
excavation required), filling it with clean stone aggregate, and topping this sub-base with a
wearing course. An existing area of the hard surfacing within the Root Protection Area (RPA)
of the tree is able to be returned to soft landscaping.

The Borough Tree officer has reviewed the proposal and has raised no objection. In light of
this, it is considered that, subject to high quality mitigation planting, including a specific larger
stock tree (such as a heavy standard) to mitigate the loss of Oak T9, it is considered that the
proposed works to trees would have a minor impact on the character and appearance of the
site or the wider area. Furthermore, as the new planting will contribute to the species and
age range diversity of the site and contribute to the long term canopy cover of the site. The
proposal, subject to conditions (Nos.6, 7, 8), therefore complies with the aims of policies HN8
of the Hastings Development Management Plan and EN3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy.

i) Highways
Access and Visibility:
The existing dwelling is served by two accesses off Branksome Road which is an
unclassified residential road, subject to a 30mph speed limit. Both accesses are to be
retained with one solely for the use of Plot 1 and the other for Plots 2-5.  Alterations to the
second access will require reconstructing according to East Sussex County Council's
specifications using an approved contractor and under the appropriate licence. The proposed
enlarged access has a width of 6m with 3m radii at the junction with the major road. The
access drive can therefore accommodate two-way traffic.

Page 32



Manual for Streets advises that a visibility splay of 2.4m x 43m is required either side of an
access onto a road subject to a 30mph speed limit over highway or land under the
applicant's control. The required visibility splays are achievable either side of the site access.

There is a lamp column on Branksome Road at the front of the site. A minimum distance of
1.5m is required between the reconstructed access and the lamp column. The lamp column
is therefore likely to require relocating at the applicant's expense. Informative No.8 advises
the applicant to make contact with the Highway Authority to discuss this further.

Parking Provision:
The indicative plans shows that there are to be two allocated parking bays per property with
2 visitors spaces (12 car parking spaces in total). Having used the County Highways
Authority parking demand calculator it is apparent that for a development of this size, in this
location, there should be a minimum of 12 car parking spaces. The proposed number of
parking spaces proposed is therefore in line with the expected demand generated by the
proposed development.

Each of the parking bays has been designed to meet the size guidance issued by the County
Highways Authority being 2.5m x 5m and as such are considered acceptable. Parking is
secured by condition 11.

Accessibility:
A pedestrian footway, 0.6m wide, has been provided along the main part of the access road
and there are short lengths of footway connecting the visitors' parking spaces to the
dwellings. This is too narrow for conventional use and the internal layout should operate as a
shared surface (informative 9).

The site is within 1.5km of a wide variety of services and amenities. There are several bus
stops within 500m of the site with regular bus services to St Leonards and Hastings. St
Leonards Railway station is 1.5km from the site and has regular connections to Hastings,
Eastbourne, Lewes and London.

Trips:
There are likely to be approximately 6 trips per day generated by the existing 4 bed dwelling.
The proposed 5 dwellings are likely to generate approximately 25 trips, thus a significant
increase in trips. However, there are no major concerns regarding the site access from a
capacity perspective and that the impact on the surrounding highway network would not be
considered severe.

Cycle parking:
Secure covered cycle parking should be provided for 2 cycles at each dwelling as
recommended by East Sussex County Council's Guidance for Parking at New
Developments. This is to be secured by way of condition (No.23).

j) Waste and Refuse
Part H of Building Regulations sets out that waste containers should be sited so that
residents don't have to push the container more than 30m to an accessible collection point,
so any collection points for bins should be within that distance. The indicative plans show a
bin storage location within the curtilage of each unit. These storage areas are located to the
rear of the dwellings and as such would be screened from the public domain. The bins
would, however, need to be relocated to the front of the properties on the relevant day for
collection.

Page 33



The Borough Waste and Refuse Team have reviewed the proposal and have advised that
they have no objection. The indicative layout submitted meets the minimum road widths,
providing sufficient space for larger vehicles to manoeuvre easily within the site. This is
demonstrated by the inclusion of a 'swept path' on the plan. Taking this into account, it is
considered that the Policy DM3 of the Hastings Development Management Plan. Condition
22 secures the provision of bin stores at each property.

k) Access for Emergency Vehicles
In accordance with building regulation requirement B5 (2000) as indicated within Manual for
Streets, there should be a vehicle access for pump appliances within 45m of every dwelling
and a fire service vehicle (FSV) should not have to reverse more than 20m.

As identified above the internal road layout, as shown on the indicative plan is wide enough
to accommodation large vehicles and provides turning space within the site. Plot 1 is also
accessible directly from Branksome Road. As a result of these factors, it is considered that
the proposed development provides sufficient access for emergency service vehicles.

l) Drainage
Foul:
No formal details have been provided in relation to foul drainage, however, condition 17
requires submission of such details for approval. Southern Water have been consulted on
the proposal and have advised that an application to connect to the public sewer would be
required.

Surface Water:
In respect of surface water, the applicant has advised that each unit is to be provided with
individual soakaways. No formal details of these facilities have been provided, however,
submission of details are secured by condition 17 .  The County Flood Risk Authority have
been consulted on the proposal however, due to the scale of the development, they have
provided no formal comments. 

m) Air quality and emissions
The proposed development does not fall within the screening checklist 1 or 2 of the 'Air
Quality and Emission Mitigation Guidance for Sussex' 2021 produced by Sussex Air Quality
Partnership.

Lighting:
No external lighting is proposed and residential amenities are not harmfully affected. The
development will not give rise to ground or surface water pollutions. The development is
therefore in accordance with Policy DM6 of the Hastings Development Management Plan
(2015).

n) Environmental Impact Assessment
The National Planning Practice guidance (Paragraph: 017 Reference ID: 4-017-20170728)
states that "Projects which are described in the first column of Schedule 2 but which do not
exceed the relevant thresholds, or meet the criteria in the second column of the Schedule, or
are not at least partly in a sensitive area, are not Schedule 2 development."

This development is not within a sensitive area as defined by Regulation 2 (1) of the Town
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 and does not
exceed the thresholds of schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017.

Page 34



o) Sustainable construction
Policy SC3 of the Hastings Planning Strategy seeks to promote sustainable and green
design in new development.  This can be achieved by incorporating appropriate climate
change mitigation and adaptation measures such as green roofs and walls, sustainable
drainage systems, multi-functional green space, protecting and enhancing biodiversity, waste
reduction and recycling facilities, water efficiency, flood risk management, and the use of
recycled materials in new development. This is supported by Policy SC4 of the Planning
Strategy which promotes working towards zero carbon development.

The construction would be implemented in accordance with a site waste management plan,
which seeks to minimise as much construction waste as possible. It is also proposed to
minimise the travel distance of vehicles bringing materials to the site.

Materials such as permeable paving are proposed for the road, paths and parking areas so
that surface run-off is reduced. Rainwater is to be collected and distributed via soakaways
and rainwater harvesting is possible through the use of water butts if required.

Further details in respect of sustainable development and adaptation measures are secured
by condition No.19.

6. Conclusion
It has been satisfactorily demonstrated that the application site is within a sustainable
location where new dwellings can be supported and therefore the development will make a
positive contribution in meeting the Borough's housing needs in accordance with policy H2 of
the Hastings Planning Strategy 2014.

Whilst the scheme is submitted in outline, the indicative drawings submitted satisfactorily
demonstrate that, a total of five new dwellings could be comfortably assimilated into this site.
Existing mature trees would not be harmed by the proposed development, that there would
be no harm to highway safety, and that the residential amenities of neighbouring properties
will be preserved.

As such, the proposal is therefore considered to be in accordance with the relevant policies
of the NPFF and Local Plan as detailed herein.

These proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise".

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

It should also be noted that all matters of concern previously raised by the Local Planning
Authority and the Planning Inspectorate have been addressed by way of ongoing discussions
and amendments to the proposal. As a result of this it is considered that the assessment of
the scheme has been carried out in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Page 35



7. Recommendation

Grant Outline Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. No development shall start until details of the:

a) Access
b) Appearance
c) Landscaping
d) Layout
e) Scale

Hereafter called "the reserved matters" have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Application for the
approval of the reserved matters shall be made within three years of the
date of this permission. The development shall accord with the approved
details.

2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in Condition 1
above, relating to the siting, design and external appearance of any
buildings to be erected, the means of access to the site and the soft and
hard landscaping of the site, shall be submitted in writing to the Local
Planning Authority and shall be carried out as approved.

3. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this
permission.

4. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:

19.062.10.F, 19.062.11.

6. All Arboricultural measures and works shall be carried out in accordance
with the details contained in the Arboricultural Impact Assessment (STA
2024 AIA AMS 20 BRANKSOME ROAD REV 2) prepared by St Aubyn Tree
Consultancy, and submitted as part of this outline application, and agreed in
principle with the Local Planning Authority prior to determination.  

7. No development shall take place until temporary protective fences to
safeguard the trees and/or hedges to be retained on the site have been
erected in accordance with the current BSI 5837 standards and to the
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.  All such fences shall be kept in
a sound, upright and complete condition until the development has been
completed and/or the Local Planning Authority confirm in writing that the
works have been sufficiently completed for the fencing to be removed. 

Page 36



8. The soft landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall
include full details of soft landscaping which shall include indications of all
existing trees and hedgerows on the land including details of those to be
retained, together with measures for their protection in the course of
development. New soft landscaping details shall include planting plans;
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated
with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting species,
plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate together with
an implementation programme. All soft landscaping works shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out
prior to occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a
programme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree that
tree, or any tree planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, or becomes, in the opinion of the Local Planning
Authority, seriously damaged or defective, another tree of the same species
and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same.

9. The soft landscaping details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall
include full details of all proposed tree planting, and the proposed times of
planting. All Tree planting works shall then be carried out prior to occupation
of any part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

All trees produced abroad but purchased for transplanting shall spend at
least one full growing season on a UK nursery and be subjected to a pest
and disease control programme.  Evidence of this control programme,
together with an audit trail of when imported trees where needed and their
origin and how long they have been in the nursery will be supplied to the
County Planning Authority prior to the commencement of any tree planting. 

10. The landscape details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall
include full details of the hard landscape works including existing and
proposed finished levels or contours of the proposed driveway; means of
enclosure; car parking layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and
circulation areas; hard surfacing materials; minor artefacts and structures
(e.g refuse areas, lighting etc); proposed and existing functional services
above and below ground (e.g drainage, power, communications cables,
pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports etc). All hard landscaping
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The
works shall be carried out prior to occupation of any part of the development
or in accordance with a programme agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. 

11. The details submitted in pursuance of condition (1) above shall show car
parking and turning areas along with cycle parking areas in accordance with
the approved County Parking Standards. Upon approval the areas shall be
provided, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved details prior
to first occupation of the unit, and thereafter the areas shall be retained for
that use and shall not be used other than for the parking of motor vehicles
and cycles. 

Page 37



12. The proposed parking spaces shall measure at least 2.5m by 5m (with an
extra 50cm on either dimension when adjacent to a wall or fence). 

13. The layout details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall include
full details of the alterations to the western access along with the
specification for the construction of the access. The development shall not
be occupied until the construction of the access has been completed in
accordance with the agreed specification as set out on Form HT407 which is
attached to and forms part of this permission.

14. The details submitted pursuant to condition (1) above, shall include full
details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external
surfaces of the development and all hard standing areas and the details
shall include sample materials of all external surfaces to be used in the
construction of the development. Thereafter development shall be carried
out in accordance with the approved details and the works shall be carried
out prior to first occupation of any part of the development or in accordance
with a programme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

15. Prior to commencement of development an updated Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal and Biodiversity Gain Plan are to be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

No development shall take place until the measures outlined in the
submitted ecological statements and reports have been fully implemented
unless the scheme, or programme of measures contained within the
ecological statements and reports is otherwise first varied, by way of prior
written approval from the Local Planning Authority.

16. No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement has
been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with
the approved method statement which shall include:

measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by
demolition and construction works, including measures to prevent mud
on the highway;
a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from demolition and
construction activities [including details of any piling];

the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works,
loading/ unloading of plant & materials and their storage and restoration of
any damage to the highway [including vehicle crossovers and grass verges].

17. (i) Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the
proposed means of foul sewerage and surface water disposal/management
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

(ii) Development shall then be carried out in accordance with the details
approved under (i) and no occupation of any of the dwellings hereby
approved shall occur until those works have been completed.  and 

(iii) No occupation of any of the dwellings hereby approved shall occur until
the Local Planning Authority has confirmed in writing that it is satisfied, that

Page 38



the necessary drainage infrastructure capacity is now available to
adequately service the development.

(iv) Prior to the occupation of development, evidence (including
photographs) should be submitted and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, showing that the drainage system has been constructed
as per the agreed detailed drainage designs.

18. With the exception of internal works the building works required to carry out
the development allowed by this permission must only be carried out within
the following times:-

08.00 - 18.00 Monday to Friday
08.00 - 13.00 on Saturdays
No working on Sundays or Public Holidays. 

19. Prior to the commencement of works above ground, details of appropriate
climate change mitigation and adaptation measures as required by Policy
SC3 and in accordance with the hierarchy of Policy SC4 of the Hastings
Planning Strategy shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details.

20. The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until a minimum of one
electric vehicle charging point has been installed with dedicated 'on plot'
parking, and shall thereafter be retained for that purpose.

21. Before the development hereby approved is occupied provision shall be
made for the ability to connect to fibre-based broadband. 

22. (i) The development shall not be occupied until details of refuse storage
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Details shall also include refuse bin collection points, where
relevant.

(ii) No part of the development shall be occupied until the all the approved
details have been implemented. The refuse store and bin collection point
shall thereafter be retained in perpetuity.

23. (i) Prior to occupation of the development, details of cycle storage must be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority.

(ii) No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure
cycle parking spaces have been provided in accordance with the approved
details. The areas shall thereafter be retained for that use and shall not be
used other than for the parking of cycles.

Page 39



Reasons:

1. The application is in outline only and to comply with Section 92 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990.

2. The application is in outline only.

3. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

4. This condition is imposed in accordance with the provisions of Section 92 of
the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

5. In order to ensure a satisfactory access, site layout, scale, appearance to
the development in the interests of the visual amenities, character and
appearance of the locality and the amenities of the neighbouring occupiers.

6. In the interests of the health of the trees and the visual amenity of the area.

7. In the interests of the health of the trees and the visual amenity of the area.

8. In the interests of the health of the trees and the visual amenity of the area.

9. In the interests of the health of the trees and the visual amenity of the area.

10. To ensure an acceptable form of development.

11. In the interests of highway safety and for the benefit and convenience of the
public at large.

12. To provide adequate space for the parking of vehicles and to ensure the
safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the access and
proceeding along the highway.

13. To ensure the safety of persons and vehicles entering and leaving the
access and proceeding along the highway.

14. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the
character and amenity of the area.

15. To protect features of recognised nature conservation importance.

16. In the interests of highway safety, for the benefit and convenience of the
public at large and to secure a well planned development that functions
properly.

17. In order to secure a well-planned development that functions properly and in
order to prevent increased risk of flooding.

18. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining residents.

19. To ensure the development complies with Policy SC3 of the Hastings
Planning Strategy.

Page 40



20. To promote the reduction of CO2 emissions through the use of low
emissions vehicles in accordance with policies contained in the NPPF.

21. To ensure the development complies with Policy SC1 of the Hastings Local
Plan: The Hastings Planning Strategy.

22. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the
character and amenity of the area.

22. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the
character and amenity of the area.

23. To ensure a satisfactory form of development in the interests of the
character and amenity of the area.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

2. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

3. The applicant is advised that they must ensure the proposed works, hereby
approved, do not contravene laws protecting wildlife including the
Countryside and Wildlife Act 1981. Where the applicant is in doubt they
should contact Natural England on wildlife@naturalengland.org.uk
Telephone 020 802 61089 or Environment and Natural Resources on
parks@hastings.gov.uk Telephone 01424 451107 prior to commencement
of any works.

4. The applicant is reminded that, under the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981 (as amended), it is an offence to: deliberately capture, disturb,
injure or kill great crested newts; damage or destroy a breeding or resting
place; deliberately obstructing access to a resting or sheltering place.
Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against
prosecution under these acts. Should great crested newts be found at any
stages of the development works, then all works should cease, and Natural
England should be contacted for advice. More details on the district licensing
scheme can be found at www.naturespaceuk.com. Contact details:
info@naturespaceuk.com.

5. Consideration should be given to the provision of a domestic sprinkler
system.

6. Nothing in this permission shall be construed as giving approval to the
details shown on the plans accompanying the application hereby approved.
Such plans have been treated as being indicative only.

Page 41



7. The applicant will be required to enter into a Section 184 Licence with East
Sussex Highways, for the provision of a new vehicular access.  The
applicant is requested to contact East Sussex Highways (0345 60 80 193) to
commence this process.  The applicant is advised that it is an offence to
undertake any works within the highway prior to the licence being in place.

8. The applicant is advised to contact East Sussex County Highways Authority
(0345 60 80 193) in respect of the lighting column at the front of the site.

9. The pedestrian footway provided along the main part of the access road and
connecting the visitors' parking spaces to the dwellings should operate as a
shared surface.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mrs E Meppem, Telephone 01424 783288

Background Papers
Application No: HS/OA/22/00514 including all letters and documents

Page 42



Visitor Centre Hastings Country Park
The Bale House
Lower Coastguard Lane
Fairlight, Hastings, TN35 4AB

Variation of condition 3 (operational hours) of Planning Permission 
HS/FA/19/00303 (Erection of a new visitor centre - originally granted
under HS/FA/14/01033). Amendment is to increase operational hours
to 8am-9pm (for community use) Monday - Sunday. 

Car Park

1

2

Def

Und

Sea

153.4m

View 11

El Sub Sta

Path (um)

House
Batley

Seascape

12

10

16

Chasman

Rye Prospect

High Winds II

High
Winds I

Grey Owl
Memorial

1

Car Park

Pa
th 

(um
)

TH
E C

LO
SE

CO
AS

TG
UA

RD
 LA

NE

© Crown Copyright and database rights [2022]. OS [100021328]

Dec 2022

HS/FA/22/00601
1:1,250

±

Assistant Director Housing & Built Environment
Hastings Borough Council,
Muriel Matters House, Breeds Place,
Hastings TN34 3UY
Tel: 01424 451090
email: planning@hastings.gov.uk
Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions. You are granted a non-exclusive,
royalty free, revocable licence solely to view the Licensed Data for non-commercial 
purposes for the period during which Hastings Borough Council makes it available. 
You are not permitted to copy, sub-license, distribute, sell or otherwise make available
the Licenced Data to third parties in any form.  Third party rights to enforce the
terms of this licence shall be reserved to OS.

Date:
Scale:
Application No. 

0 10 20 30 40
Meters

Page 43

Agenda Item 5c



This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM NO: 5 (c)

Report to: PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting: 22 December 2022

Report from: Assistant Director of Housing and Built Environment

Application address: Proposed Visitor Centre Hastings Country
Park,(The Bale House),  Lower Coastguard
Lane, Fairlight, Hastings, TN35 4AB

Proposal: Variation of condition 3 (operational hours) of
Planning Permission HS/FA/19/00303 (Erection
of a new visitor centre - originally granted
under HS/FA/14/01033). Amendment is to
increase operational hours to 8am-9pm (for
community use) Monday - Sunday.

Application No: HS/FA/22/00601

Recommendation: Grant Full Planning Permission

Ward: ORE 2018
Conservation Area: No
Listed Building: No

Applicant: Groundwork South Bale House Lower Coastgaurd
Lane  Fairlight, Hastings. TN35 4AD

Public Consultation
Site notice: Yes
Press advertisement: No
Neighbour Letters: No
People objecting: 6
Petitions of objection received: 0
People in support: 3
Petitions of support received: 0
Neutral comments received: 1

Application status:  Not delegated - 5 or more letters of objection
received

Page 45



1. Site and surrounding area
This application relates to Bale House, the recently constructed visitor centre along
Coastguard Lane within Hastings Country Park. It sits within a frequently accessed rural
AONB landscape adjacent to an existing road and car park. To the east of the site are
residential properties in Fairlight located on Warren Road, Coastguard Lane and The Close.

Constraints
High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Local Wildlife Site
Local Nature Reserve
Public Right of Way

2. Proposed development
Planning permission for the new visitor centre was originally granted in 2014. It was
subsequently amended by way of Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act in 2018
and 2019 (see planning history below). It is the third planning permission which has
technically been implemented. In common with the previous approvals, it contains a planning
condition that requires that the visitor centre shall not be used except between 9am and 5pm
Monday to Sunday.

A variation of condition is now sought to enable the visitor centre to stay open from 8am to
9pm Monday to Sunday.

Following a request from officers following feedback in public consultation the applicant
provided the following additional information about the reason for the extended opening
hours.

"Groundwork South is a non-profit charity and have requested the change in hours in
response to the community members repetitive requests for various educational activities
beyond 5pm. These activities include heritage walks and talks, nature based art activities,
conservation activities such as flora and fauna walks and talks and various other requests to
use the space as a community asset for education, health and well-being. The café would
remain operating at the same hours as they do currently.

The hours requested allow for summer evening activities to take place, both moth and bat
nights are very popular; with sunset at 21:03 on the longest day, the hours requested would
only accommodate these activities further away from the summer solstice. These are family
events and while we have been able to run some from the old visitor centre, there are no
toilet facilities available for participants to use. Evening educational talks are also quite
popular, but we have had to limit numbers due to the capacity of the old visitor centre. Both
participants and those running the talks would much prefer to use the Bale House as it is a
much more inviting and comfortable community building"

Local residents were re-consulted on the above description by way of a second site notice,
positioned in similar locations to the first two.

Relevant planning history

HS/FA/19/00499  Proposed new boundary extended 20m from currently approved
application (App' ref: HS/FA/14/01033) boundary and proposed new swale Approved 12

Page 46



September 2019.

HS/FA/19/00303 - Variation of condition 4 (Foul Sewerage) of planning permission
HS/FA/17/01018 (Amendment to the disposal and management of foul
sewerage). Approved 11 July 2019.

HS/FA/17/01018 - Variation of condition 13 (Approved drawings) of planning permission
HS/FA/14/01033 - Amendments to roof structure, window openings, ventilation unit and
weatherboarding material. Approved March 2018.

HS/NM/18/00059 - Non-material Amendment application to vary the wording of condition 4 of
planning permission HS/FA/14/01033 (Erection of a new visitor centre) requiring the SUDS
details to be submitted prior to commencement of development above ground level rather
than prior to construction of development. Approved 2018.

HS/CD/17/01101 - Discharge of various conditions associated with HS/FA/14/01033.
Approved 2018.

HS/FA/14/01033 - Erection of a new visitor centre - Granted 6th March 2015 (expires 6th
March 2018).

National and local policies

Hastings Local Plan – Planning Strategy 2014

Policy EN3 - Nature Conservation and Improvement of Biodiversity
Policy EN7 - Conservation and Enhancement of Landscape
Policy SC1 - Overall Strategy for Managing Change in a Sustainable Way

Hastings Local Plan – Development Management Plan 2015

Policy LP1 - Considering planning applications
Policy DM3 - General Amenity
Policy DM6 - Pollution and Hazards
Policy HC3 - Community Facilities 
Policy HN8 - Biodiversity and Green Spaces.

Revised Draft Local Plan

DP1 Design – Key Principles

Other policies/guidance

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
Paragraph 8 sets out the three overarching objectives of the planning system in order to
achieve sustainable development. Those are: economic (by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and
innovation); social (to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a
sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and
future generations; and by fostering well-designed, beautiful and safe places, with accessible
services and open spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’
health, social and cultural well-being;); and environmental (to protect and enhance our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, improving

Page 47



biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating
and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy)

Paragraph 9 advises that plans and decisions need to take local circumstances into account,
so they respond to the different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in
different areas.

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan
without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are most
important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting permission unless:

i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Paragraph 12 of the NPPF states that the development plan is the starting point for
decision-making. Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development
plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.

Paragraph 47 of the NPPF sets out that planning applications be determined in accordance
with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that Local planning authorities should take a positive
approach to applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not
allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to:
a) use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand, provided this
would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality and viability of town
centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this Framework; and
b) make more effective use of sites that provide community services such as schools and
hospitals, provided this maintains or improves the quality of service provision and access to
open space.

Paragraph 124 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should support development that
makes efficient use of land.

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF requires that decisions should ensure developments:
Function well;
Add to the overall quality of the area for the lifetime of that development;
Are visually attractive in terms of:

Layout
Architecture
Landscaping

Are sympathetic to local character/history whilst not preventing change or innovation;
Maintain a strong sense of place having regard to:

Building types
Materials
Arrangement of streets

in order to create an attractive, welcoming and distinctive places to live, work and visit.
Page 48



Optimise the potential of the site to accommodate an appropriate number and mix of
development;
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and
well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users; and where crime
and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community
cohesion and resilience. 

Paragraph 131 of the NPPF states that decisions should ensure new streets are tree lined,
that opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments.

Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that development that is not well designed should be
refused but that significant weight should be given to development that reflects local design
policies and government guidance on design and development of outstanding or innovative
design which promotes high levels of sustainability and raises the standard of design in the
area, provided they fit with the overall form and layout of their surroundings.

Paragraph 135 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that the quality of an approved development is
not materially diminished between permission and completion through changes to the
permitted scheme.

Paragraph 185 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should ensure that new
development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as
well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from
the development. In doing so they should: a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential
adverse impacts resulting from noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to
significant adverse impacts on health and the quality of life; b) identify and protect tranquil
areas which have remained relatively undisturbed by noise and are prized for their
recreational and amenity value for this reason; and c) limit the impact of light pollution from
artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation.

3. Consultation comments
None

4. Representations
In respect of this application a site notice was displayed outside the visitor centre and on
Coastguard Lane.
6 Letters of objection were received, including from the Fairlight Parish Council Planning
Committee. There were also two neutral comments (including one from an objector) and
three letters of support.
The following concerns were raised

Fairlight Council Planning Committee:
Due to the close proximity to a residential area, it is suggested that conditions should be
imposed

No licences for alcohol, music etc are issued
For educational use only rather than commercial
A set number of days per month only are set aside when the hours are extended into the
evening
Consideration should be given to the disruption to the wildlife in the area from additional
people and vehicles producing light, noise and other pollutants to the site

Page 49



Objections were raised on the following grounds.
a) Principle of development

There is a concern that the visitor centre is primarily used as a cafe and not for its original
community/educational purposes, and the extended opening hours would exacerbate this
problem.
Failure to provide adequate detail on what the proposal would be used for in the
additional opening hours.
Concern that further applications may come forward requiring more late night opening
Concern that any extended hours are limited to educational and community purposes as
per the original intention in granting planning permission for the building.
Concern that no licenses for Alcohol or Music are issued, requests that number of days
are limited.
Temporary permission for no more than three years might be appropriate to see if
enforcement of conditions proves difficult and whether problems arise
Concern that the nature centre and café should be physically separated.
Concern about the decision making process given that Hastings Borough Council has an
interest in the land.

b) Effect on character and appearance/ AONB
Concern that the proposed additional opening hours will lead to additional light and noise
pollution.
Concern about loss of tranquillity.

c) Residential amenity
Concern about noise and disturbance to local neighbouring residents.

c) Ecology
Concern about effect of additional noise and light pollution to the local wildlife.
Concern about the potential impact of traffic movements on wildlife and ecology. 

Three letters of support were received
The Friends of Hastings Country Park Nature Reserve support the application on the
condition that the Bale House is only used for non-profit making community purposes
during the extended hours.
One local resident supports the application on the basis that it 'seems crazy that for the
information centre and refreshment area to close in the late afternoon'.
Hastings Country Park Nature Reserve Management Forum (responsible for setting the
management agenda and overseeing management progress at Hastings Country Park
Nature Reserve).   This forum note that the Bale house is vital for supporting community
and educational activities at the reserve and extending the opening hours will promote
on-going visitor and educational attractions at the Bale House.  The forum advises that
having the Bale House open to members of the public, for events and activities relating to
the wonderful landscape of the reserve is a key strategic priority for Hastings Borough
Council’s future management of both the Bale House and the nature reserve.

A second site notice was put up in November 2022 with accurate opening hours and inviting
comments on the statement from the applicant setting out the reason for the proposed
extended opening hours. No responses were received to this second phase of public
consultation. 

5. Determining issues
The main issues are principle of development, effect on character and appearance,
residential amenity, trees and ecology.

Page 50



a) Principle
Planning permission was originally granted by planning committee in 2014 for the
construction of the visitor centre at Hastings Country Park, now known as Bale House
subject to a condition that limited its opening hours from 9-5 Monday to Sunday. At the time
there was public concern that the building would be used for private events such as parties
late in to the evening which could be a potential source of noise and disturbance, and the
condition was imposed in part to assuage those fears.

The visitor centre was originally envisaged for 'education and conservation purposes'. As
such the lawful planning use of the building is use class F1 - (defined in law as schools,
galleries, museums, libraries, halls or churches). The cafe use is ancillary, or secondary, to
this. An inspection of the interior of the premises shows that the centre is being currently run
as originally envisaged, with the bulk of the space being used to provide information boards
about the park.  

The applicant makes clear that the type of activities that will take place within the building in
the extended opening hours would be for the purposes of education, health and well-being;
with a particular focus on the use of the centre for hosting walks in the evening around the
country park. This is all consistent with the lawful F1 use of the premises.

It is noted that there are concerns that the cafe will operate in to the evening but the
applicant has confirmed this is not their intention in pursuing this planning application and the
opening hours of the cafe will remain as present. There would be no change to the current
situation, whereby the cafe is functioning as an ancillary element to the visitor centre.
Concerns regarding the potential use of the premises for loud events are addressed through
condition 2 preventing the playing of live or recorded music in the evening. This will be
discussed further in the report.

In consequence, the principle of the development is considered to be acceptable. The
proposal accords with the relevant policies in the Hastings Local Plan - Development
Management (2015) in this respect.

b) Character and Appearance (including effect on the High Weald Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty)

The visitor centre is located within the High Weald AONB, where there is a statutory duty to
conserve and enhance natural beauty. Within this context, the site is close to a built up area
associated with the village of Fairlight. It is adjacent to a car park used by people accessing
the Country Park, which is regularly used in daylight hours.

The proposal will lead to further use of the building and car park in the morning and evening,
and this will be particularly noticeable in the darker months of winter. However, the impact in
terms of noise and disturbance, light pollution and tranquillity through artificial light and
vehicular movements would be negligible given that they will not extend past 9pm, and given
the close proximity of the building to existing built development associated with Fairlight.

It is also noted that people regularly visit the Country Park to walk dogs including, although
more occasionally, in the darker evenings of winter. The additional people visiting the site
between 5pm to 9pm will not represent a significant change that could be deemed harmful to
the character of the area of qualities of the AONB.

Given the location of the site on the fringe of Fairlight adjacent to a tranquil area, it would be
reasonable to impose a further condition (no.2) preventing the use of the premises for thePage 51



playing of live or recorded music in the building, in the extended evening opening hours.

It is therefore considered that, subject to conditions being imposed as per the above, there
would be no harm to the character and appearance of the area or the High Weald AONB,
and no conflict with planning policy on this issue.

c) Amenity (including noise and disturbance)
Under the proposed arrangements, the building will open at 8am and cease operating at
9pm. The main consequence of the extended opening hours would be  more comings and
goings to the visitor centre in the morning and evening, as people access the building for
community uses.

There is a significant separation distance to the nearest residential property, and there is
good existing infrastructure around the site, including car parking, to accommodate such
additional movements, which would stop at 9pm when the building must in any event close.

As noted previously, the applicant has confirmed that there is no intention to extend the
opening hours of the cafe. As such, there is no risk that the use of the premises will change
to being that of a destination restaurant in the evenings, so the proposal would not lead to
additional noise and disturbance of this nature, as feared by some consultation respondents.

In the circumstances of this case it is considered that there are no planning reasons relating
to noise and disturbance to justify refusal of planning permission for the extended opening
hours requested.

d) Ecology
The existing building stands next to a road, close to a built up area, on the edge of a well
used Country Park. There would be a small amount of additional vehicular movements
arising from the longer opening hours, but this would not lead to material harm to wildlife or
ecological interests, including the Local Wildlife Site and Nature Reserve.

e) Other issues
Any future proposals for changes to the venue would need to be considered on their merits,
as would any application for any future alcohol license associated with the building. These
are not considerations that would justify the refusal of planning permission or the imposition
of additional conditions.

There is no planning justification to grant permission subject to a temporary time period, or to
limit the number of days the building can open in to the evening.

It is acknowledged that the Council have an ownership interest in the land, but the proposal
has been assessed against the development plan and other material considerations as
required by planning law.

6. Conclusion

These proposals comply with the Development Plan in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which states:

Page 52



"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination to be
made under the Planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance with the plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise”.

The Human Rights considerations have been taken into account fully in balancing the
planning issues.

7. Recommendation

Grant Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with
the following approved plans:

101C; 108C; 240/204D; 240/205B; 240/106/D; 240/107/D; 240/219E;
240/214B; 240/223.

2. The visitor centre shall not be used except between the following hours:
8am - 9pm Monday to Sunday.

Within these operating hours 
i) no food, drinks or other forms of refreshment shall be sold within the visitor
centre to visiting members of the public between the hours of 5pm and 9pm
daily. 
ii) no Live or recorded music shall be played in the venue between the hours
of 5pm and 9pm daily. 

3. The Amphitheatre is to be used as an outdoor classroom only and for no
other use. 

Reasons:

1. For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2. To safeguard the amenity of adjoining and future residents, and to preserve
the tranquillity of the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

3. To protect the amenity of neighbouring residents.

Notes to the Applicant

1. Statement of positive engagement: In dealing with this application Hastings
Borough Council has actively sought to work with the applicant in a positive
and proactive manner, in accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

2. Failure to comply with any condition imposed on this permission may result
in enforcement action without further warning.

Page 53



3. You are advised that the Council consider that the Visitor Centre falls within
the F1 use class, having regard to the The Town and Country Planning (Use
Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020.

_____________________________________________________________________

Officer to Contact
Mr Neil Holdsworth, Telephone 01424 783275

Background Papers
Application No: HS/FA/22/00601 including all letters and documents

Page 54



Agenda Item: 6 
 

 
Report to: 

 
Planning Committee 

 
Date: 

 
22 December 2022 

 
Report from: 

 
Planning Services Manager 

 
Title of report: PLANNING APPEALS & DELEGATED DECISIONS 

 

 
Purpose of report: 

 
To inform the Planning Committee of any planning appeals that 
have been lodged, of any decisions received from the Planning 
Inspectorate and the number of delegated decisions made 
between 12/11/2022 to 08/12/2022 
 

 
Recommendations: 

 
That the report be noted 

 
Correction to Report to Planning Committee 23 November 2022 
The following appeal was incorrectly reported in the previous report 

 
The following appeals have been received: 
 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision 
was made 

Type of 
Appeal 

Land south west 
of Newts Way, St 
Leonards-on-sea 
 
HS/FA/20/00959 
 

Construction of four 
family dwellinghouses 
which will include work 
from home space, 
gardens, parking and 
access to Newts Way 

Refuse 
Planning 
Permission 
(Incorrectly 
reported as 
Non-
determination 
in previous 
report) 

PLANNING 
COMMITTEE 

Planning 
 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s Rec Where the 
decision 
was made 

Type of 
Appeal 

1 St Matthews 
Road, St 
Leonards-on-sea 
 
HS/FA/22/00035 

Demolition of existing 
dilapidated outbuilding 
and provision of new 
three bedroom detached 
house, with associated 
parking and landscaping. 

REFUSED 
PERMISSION 

DELEGATED Planning 

239 Hillside 
Road, Hastings, 
TN34 2QY 
 

The erection of a two-
storey detached dwelling 
adjacent to 239 Hillside 
Road with associated 

REFUSED 
PERMISSION 

DELEGATED Planning 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



 
The following appeals have been allowed: 
 
None 
 
The following appeals have been dismissed: 
 

 
 
Type of Delegated Decision Number of Decisions 
Granted Permission 39 
Part Granted – Part Refused  1 
Prior Approval Approved 2 
Raise Objections 1 
Refused 5 
Withdrawn by applicant  5 
Total 53 
 
Report written by 
Sam Townshend – Tel: (01424) 783264     
Email: planning@hastings.gov.uk 

HS/FA/22/00011 new access, parking, soft 
and hard landscaping, 
and below ground 
rainwater tank. 

19 The Byeway, 
Hastings, TN34 
2AY 
 
HS/FA/22/00205 

Proposed chalet style 
dwelling to replace 
existing detached double 
garage together with 
alteration to front 
elevation of existing 
bungalow. 

REFUSED 
PERMISSION 

DELEGATED Planning 

Address/ 
Application 
Number 

Proposal PSM’s 
Rec 

Where the 
decision was 
made 

Type of 
Appeal 

Land adjacent 1 
Westfield Lane, 
St Leonards-on-
sea, TN37 7NE  
 
HS/FA/21/00507 

Proposed construction of 
3 dwellings (one 
detached dwelling with 
garage and a pair of 
semi-detached 
dwellings) 

Refuse 
Planning 
Permission 

DELEGATED Planning  

9-15 
Sedlescombe 
Road North, St 
Leonards-on-sea 
 
HS/PA/21/00779 

Notification for Prior 
Approval for the 
construction of one 
additional floor to form 
5x dwellings (C3) on 
terrace building with a 
mixed use of Sui Generis 
(bingo hall, hot food 
takeaway and public 
house) and Class E and 
Class C3 (residential) at 
upper floor levels 

Prior 
Approval 
Refused 

DELEGATED Planning 

Page 56


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting 23.11.22
	Minutes

	5a Ridge House, 27 Boscobel Road, St Leonards-on-sea (HS/FA/22/00788)
	HS-FA-22-00788 Ridge House, 27 Boscobel Road

	5b 20 Branksome Road, St Leonards-on-sea (HS/OA/22/00514)
	HS-OA-22-00514 20 Branksome Road

	5c Proposed Visitor Centre Hastings Country Park,(The Bale House), Lower Coastguard Lane, Fairlight, Hastings (HS/FA/22/00601)
	HS-FA-22-00601 Proposed Visitor Centre Hastings Country Park (The Bale House)

	6 Planning Appeals and Delegated Decisions

